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The fascinating datestamps popu­
larly known as the Malta Village 
Postmarks constitute a very impor­
tant aspect of Maltese postal history 
and is so closely linked to the Inland 
Postal Service that a resume of the 
story of this public utility is befitting. 

During the Maltese revolt against 
the French oppressor on the 2nd Sep­
tember 1798, the leaders of the in­
surrection had to have some sort of 
communication. It is a well known 
fact that Captain Alexander Ball, 
who was sent by Lord Nelson later 
that month to help organise Maltese 
resistance, was a prolific writer and 
kept in constant touch with the Mal­
tese leaders by runners. 

After the French capitulation, two 
years later on 3rd September 1800, 
Domenico Montanaro, who served as 
Postmaster both under the Order and 
during the French occupation, re­
tained his position at the Govern­
ment Post Office until his retirement 
in October 1816, when he was tempo­
rarily relieved by Mr. J. Bonavita 
until the appointment of Robert 
McNab as Packet Agent and Supe-

rintendent of the Government Post 
Office on the gth July, 1817. 

The first official reference to an 
organised internal postal communica­
tion was during the plague epidemic 
of 1813, when restrictions of move­
ment from one place to another had 
to be imposed because of the high 
risk of contagion and further spread 
of the disease. By a notice dated 18th 
August, 1813 issued from the Island 
Post Office, it was announced that 
messengers have been appointed for 
every district including Floriana, who 
carried a box for the reception of 
letters and a hand bell to announce 
their presence, each doing two rounds 
daily. The letters collected were then 
taken to the Post Office, which at 
that period was situated at Piazza 
Tesoreria (now Queen's Square), 
where, after being fumigated they 
were despatched to their destinations. 
The messengers collected 1 Tari for 
every letter handed to them and 
these were limited to 2 sheets only. 
Those handed directly at the Post 
Office were charged 10 Grani. These 
rates applied for the Valletta, Flor­
iana and the Three Cities area. "Let-



ters addressed to personnel on board 
ships, the Country or Gozo (to which 
Island they were transmitted "gra­
tis") had to pay a fee of 1 tari and 
10 grani. The Office of the Intendant 
of the Marine Police was responsible 
for the transmission of the Gozo 
Mails during the period. A minute 
ismed by the authority of the Gover­
nor fixed the rates of postage on local 
letters, in English currency, at 1 

penny per ounce, and 1 penny for 
each additional ounce or fraction of 
an ounce, these rates becoming effec­
tive as from 1st January, 1840. 

A daily internal free post was es­
tablished on June 10, 1853. The 
conditions and closing of mails at 
Valletta, the Three Cities, the Casals 
and the Island of Gozo were specified 
in a Po~t Office Notice dated 8 June, 
1853. Glazed frames were installed at 
the Valletta Post Office, and at the 
respective Police Stations of the 
Three Cities, the various Casals and 
Gozo, as indicated in the same No­
tice, for the display of letters and 
Newspapers. '\Vooden letter boxes 
were also fitted underneath the 
glazed frames for the reception of 
letters. This novel service was an ex­
periment and the Governor's inten­
tion for its establishment was first 
':lnnounced at the sitting- of the C:mm­

cil of Government on March 31st, 
18t;3 bv the Chief secretary. who 
asked that a sum of [M42 be voted 
to defray the cost. Although the ser­
vice was gratuitious, it was subjected 
to criticism mainly by newspaper edi­
tors who complained that their pa­
pers remained in the glazed frames 

for two days and sometimes longer, 
and that was of course detrimental 
to their circulation. Both "The 
Malta Times" and "Il Portafoglio 
Maltese" suggested the introduction 
of postage stamps "as in England" 
for home delivery for those who 
wished it. Statistics published for the 
years 1855 and 1856 showed that 
almo't 40 per cent of the mails pass­
mg through the Island Post Office 
comprised newspapers. The totals 
transmitted during those years were 
44,309 and 4.9,710 respectively. That 
showed an increase of over ,I),OOO 

articles within one year. 

The largest volume of mail ema­
nated from the Three Cities and the 
larger villages. Figures for the 
smaller villages were tragic. For ex­
ample. 

Attard 
Chircop 
Luca 
Micabiba 
Safi 
St. Julian's 

The Estimates under Head 12, 
namely "For the Conveyance of 
Mails", remained constant at [40 a 
year until 1858. Up till then, mails 
were delivered by mail contractors. 
On September 10, 1858 the newly 
formed Omnibus Company gained 
the contract for the conveyance of 
the country mails at an annual remu­
neration of £wo. The mails for the 
Three Cities went by boat. The clos­
ing times of the mails had to be 
changed to coincide with the new 



contractor's timetable. These time> 
were specified in a Notice dated rst 
September, 1858. 

The free post was too good to last 
for long. A Government Notice pub­
liched in ''The Malta Government 
Gazette" No. 2061 dated 16th No­
vember, 186o announced the issue of 
our classic td yellow local stamp 
which was to be used on letters, in­
tended for internal post, weighing 
up to half ounce and td for every 
additional half ounce or fraction of 
a half ounce. Newspapers still were 
delivered free of any postal charge. 
The same Notice announced an in­
novation: the erection of eight Pil­
lar and Wall Letter Boxes at strategic 
places specified in the same Notice. 
Otherwise the system of conveyance 
of mails and display of letters in the 
glazed frames of the various Police 
Stations remained unaltered. 

This fascinating local stamp had a 
life span of 23 years during which 
period it was reprinted several times 
resulting in several shades of yellow, 
three different types of paper and 
perforation vanetres. Three dif­
ferent types of cancellations were 
mainly used on this stamp-the "M" 
cancel used for a short while only on 
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the first print, and two duplex types 
of datestamps bearing Code letters 
from A to E and "A 25" killer bars. 

In the Estimates for 1878, [130 
we1e voted "For the Conveyance of 
the Country mails and a house to 
house delivery of letters in the Ca­
sals". The house deliveries were only 
done free in Valletta, the Three 
Cities, Pieta, Msida, Sliema and St. 
Julians, provided the letters were 
clearly addressed with house num­
bers, or the addresses were known 
to the letter carriers. If the house 
delivery was required in the Casals a 
fee of td had to be paid on each 
delivery of mail to a particular ad­
dres>. That fee of one td local stamp 
covered the delivery cost for one or 
more letters addressed to an indivi­
dual and even other members of the 
same family residing in the same 
house. This arrangement was termi­
nated on December 31st, 1884. 

The Malta-Gozo mail service was 
frustrating and very unreliable par­
ticularly in winter as it depended so 
much on the weather. The Govern­
ment tried to improve the service by 
transmitting the mail overland via 
Marfa and by boat from there to 
Migiarro. The Director of Contracts 
inserted an advertisement in the 
Malta Government Gazette of r88o 
asking for tenders for the "Convey­
ance of the Daily Mail between 
Malta and Gozo". The contract sti­
pulated that a carriage, with four in­
side seats and one on the box by the 
driver, had to start daily from. Val­
letta at 7 a.m., excepting Sundays 



and Public Holidays, for Marfa, from 
rst December, r88o to 15th Novem­
ber, r881. Passengers were to be 
charged 2s each from Valletta to 
Marfa. A Policeman on duty was to 
ride gratuitiouJy and he would be 
in charge of the mail and govern­
ment payroll. 

The year 1885 was a momentous 
one with many important changes. 
The British Imperial Government 
relinquished its monopoly of the 
Malta Postal Service and control was 
handed over to the Maltese Govern­
ment from 1st January, r885. The 
establishment of our General Pmt 
Office, located at that time at 1 :J7 
Merchants' Street, was ratified by 
Ordinance II of 1884. Roger Duke 
took charge of the General Post 
Office as postmaster and he was fol­
lowed a year later by Ferdinand V. 
Inglott, C.M.G., our first Postmaster 
General. Sub-offices (not Branch Post 
Offices) were also established at 
Rabato and Migiarro, Gozo. During 

the same year, the first steam commu­
nication between Malta and Gozo 
was inaugurated with much pomp by 
S.S. Gleneagles on 1st July, 1885. 
This vessel was bought by Chev. 
Gollcher and was skippered by L. 
Aquilina. Sub-Offices were also in­
tended to be opened at Balzan, Lia, 
Birchirca:ra, Cospicua, Melleha, Nota-
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bile and Sliema. However these did 
not materialise that year. 

Another important event of this 
year was the issue on January 1st of 
our first Postage stamp series with 
values from td to 1j-. The shades 
had to conform with the U.P.U. co­
lour scheme regulations, and conse­
quently, the colour of the td yellow, 
which was meant for local use, had 
to change to green. 

The G.P.O. started with two let­
ter carriers and seven Auxiliaries. 
The latter did three deliveries per 
week, one at 2s 6d and the other six 
at 2S per delivery. For the Rural Ser­
vice it had on its payroll, eight De­
tached Post Officers (termed Sub­
Postma~ters in the Estimates, simi­
larly in the case of the two Detached 
Post Officers of Gozo). In 188g the 
number of Letter Carriers or Post­
men was increased to four first class, 
four second class and eight Auxilia­
ries. Allowances and remunerations 
to the eight Detached Post-Officers in 
Malta were discontinued and two 
extra Letter Carriers, under the head 
Suburban Postal Service, were added 
to serve the Three Cities. The fol­
lowing year the first Branch Post 
Office in Malta was opened at Cospi­
cua on 1st August, 18go to serve the 

Cottonera District which at that time 
consisted of The Three Cities and 
Calcara (Kalkara). The Postmaster 
was Edgar L. Bonavia, assisted by 



Giuseppe Testa and Carmelo Cris­
tiano as postmen, and Giuseppe Mal­
lia as Messenger. 

A special Committee was appointed 
bv the Council of Government on the 
2 ~ st December, 1892 to investigate 
various proposals for the improve­
ment of the postal services. The out­
come of this enquiry was to reclassify 
the letter carriers and Auxiliaries to 
eicrht first Class Postmen and eight 
Se~ond Class Postmen, which with 
the two Postmen employed at the 
Cottonera Branch Po't Office brought 
the permanent Postmen's staff up to 
eirrhteen in number. More improve­
m~nts were to come the following 
v.ear with the creation of a new In­
land Postal Service and the division 
of Malta and Gozo into Postal Dis­
tr'cts. The first two Postal Districts 
in Malta as specified in Government 
Notice No. 106 of July 10, 18q4 con­
si<ted of: i. the Valletta Di~trict, 

which comprised the Valletta G.P.O., 
Floriana, Hamrun (including San 
Giuseppe and Marsa), Pieta and 
Mcida;. and ii. the Cottonera District, 
comprising Cospicua Branch Post 
Office, Vittoriosa and Calcara, Sen­
g-lea. Zabbar and Marsascala, Zeitun, 
Ma·:<;asdrocco, Delimara, San Lu­
ciano, San Leonardo, Tarxien and 
P:Jola. The same Notice stated that 
"In fhe case of the Cotonera District 
all Poctal s~rvices are to be centred 
in the Post Office at Cospicua". 

The Inland Postal Service, which 
was controUed by the G.P.O., was 
form"'d by the employment of 16 
Rural Postmen who served the fol-
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lowing a:eas as from the 2nd July, 
1Sg.r 
John Fletcher (Hamrun 

and San Giuseppe) @ [12 p.a 
Carmelo Bajada (Hamrun 

and Marsa) @ [12 p.a. 
Carmelo Cauchi (Pieta 

and Msida) @ £r5 p.a 
Carmelo Cassar (Zabbar 

and Marsascala) @ [12 p.a. 
Francesco Valletta (Zeitun, 

and Marsaxlokk, 
Delimara, San Luciano 
and San Leonardo) @ [12 p.a. 

Filippo Agius (Asciak, 
Gudia and Birzebugia) @ [12 p.a. 

Salvatore Cas~ar (Tarxien, 
and Paola) @ [18 p.a. 

Giuseppe Galea (Notabile 
and Dingli) @ .[12 p.a. 

Carmelo Zammit (Zebbug 
and Siggiewi) @ .{2 1 p.a. 

Giuseppe Zammit 
(Birchircara) @ .[I2 p.a. 

Giuseppe Galea (Attard, 
Lia and Balzan) @ .[12 p.a. 

AnQ"elo Vella (Musta, 
Naxaro and Gan~·ur) @ £It) p.a. 

Enrico Gauci(i) (Mellieha 
and St. Paul's Bay) @ £.rJ4 p.a. 

Angelo Bonnici (Curmi) @ {12 p.a. 
Ciuseppe Azzopardi 

(Luca) @ [9 p.a. 
Carmelo Borg(ii) (Zurrico, 

Crendi, Micabiba, 
Chircop and Safi) @ {18 p.a. 

The following yea!', the Third Dis­
trict, Sliema was e~tabli~hed bv the 
opening of a Branch Post Office on 
1~t May, 189r) to serve Sliema, St. 
Julian's and St. George's Bay. The 



Postmaster was Gaspard Grech, as­
sisted by Postman Enrico Mallia and 
Temporary Postman John Fletcher. 

Similarly Gozo was divided into 
two Postal Districts in March, 1895. 
The sub-Poctmaster for the Victoria 
DiEtrict was Enrico Caldarone who 
received a salary of £15 as Officer-in­
Charge of the sub-Post Office, plus 
£3o as Keeper of Prisons and fw per 
annum for clerical duties in the Po­
lice Office, Gozo. He was assiEted by 
two postmen: Paolo Lanzon, who 
served Victoria, Sannat, Kercem. Zeb­
bug and Marsalforn, and Gioacchino 
Aquilina, who served Garbo and San 
Lorenzo. 

The Migg·iaro District Postmaster 
was Nicola Zammit, who received 
also {15 per annum as Officer-in­
Charge of the Sub-Post Office and 
4s 5d daily as First Class Sergeant 
Marine Police. He was assisted by 
one postman named Francesco Butti­
gieg, who served Miggiaro, Kala, 
Ghainsielem, Nadur, Caccia and 
Xeuchia. 

The Mail Porter for Gozo since 
1st August, 1885 was Giuseppe Hili. 
He was paid a salary of £4o per an­
num as Government Carrier, plu.,s 
£g for taking charge of mop.ey bet-

9 

ween Malta and Gozo, and an addi­
tional remuneration of {24 annually 
for the conveyance of the mails from 
Migiarro to Vittoria and vice-versa. 

On the 15th November, 1897 the 
fourth postal district was established 
at Notabile, created by the opening 
of a Branch Post Office at Rabato. 
R.E. Peralta was its first Postmaster 
assisted by an Office Keeper named 
Emmanueie Gambin. This Branch 
Post Office served Notabile, Rabato 
and Dingli, Zebbug and Siggiewi. 
The mails for this district arrived by 
train, the company being awarded a 
subsidy of £so annually for this ser­
vice. During the same year, two 

more postal districts were contem­
plated, one at N axaro and the other 
at Luca, but for some reason or 
other, the plans never materialized. 

The Fifth District of Birchircara 
came into being on 1st March, 18g8 
to serve Birchircara, Balzan, Lia and 
Attard. The Postmaster was Giuseppe 
Gauci, who was assisted by an Office 
Keeper named Giovanni Schembri. 
Unfortunately this office closed the 
following year on 30th April, 1899 
because of lack of business. 

The first Branch Post Office for 
Gozo was opened at the Government 
Buildings, Victoria on 1st May, 1900 



to serve the Victoria District. The 
Chief Sorter and Supervisor of Post­
men of the G.P.O. was installed as 
the first Postmaster on a temporary 
basis, Giovanni Zammit, assisted by 
Paolo Lanzon who served Vicitoria, 
Sannat, Kercem, Munxiar and Xlen­
di, and Postman Giuseppe Cachia 
who di'<l Xaghra, Marsalforn, Zeb­
bug, Garbo and San Lorenzo. 

The following year as from the 
21St December, 1901 an additional 
afternoon mail was despatched on 
weekdays only from the G.P.O. 

Another short-term Postal District 
was that of Melleha where a Branch 
Post Office was opened on the 29th 
March, 1902 to serve that area. It 
only lasted just over a year, like Bir­
chicara, closing its doors on 10th 
April, 1903. The Postmaster of this 
Branch Office was Joseph Gatt Rut­
ter who was assisted by an Office 
Keeper, Angelo Fenech. The average 
daily volume of mail handled by the 
Melleha Office was approximately 18 
letters incoming and 15 despatched, 
while newspapers av~raged about 
three daily in and out while regis­
tered letters less than one 'daily both 
ways. For interest's sake, it is appro­
priate to note that froin this office 
originated the 1d rose . bisect of 
Queen Victoria. A story was spread 
around that the Office at Melleha ran 
out of the -!d stamps because of the 
proximity of the nearby military 
camp. However, the bisect stamp Is 
definitely of philatelic vintage. In re­
cent years, Codes B, C and D also 
mysteriously tame to light froin this 
office. 
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The Datestamps themselves are 
'amply covered · in Said's catalogue 
and the Malta Study Circle Paper 
N~. 25. Briefly; Rabato (Gozo) gave 
us our first Village postmark re­
putedly on 1st December, 1885. Its 
name was changed to Victoria and. it 
was officially declared a city on tl;le 
occasion of Queen Victoria's Jubilee, 
by Government Notice No. 75 of 
June 10, 1887. After these two hand­
stamps, we had Migiarro, Cospicua, 
Sliema, Notabile and Birchircara con­
secutively, all issued before 1900. 

The main batch of twenty-seven 
datestamps of the new series intended 
for use at the various Village Police 
Stations was despatched from the 
G.P.O. London on the 10th July, 
1900. These were put into use in 
early September of the same year. 

The datestamps of Attard, Chircop 
and Safi went out of use early, all 
before 1910. Likewise those of Gozo 
were retired early. Only Caccia seems 
to have survived up to 1921 when all 
the Village postmarks were with­
drawn. Two late corners in this se­
ries, were Balzan and Marsa, both of 
which made their appearance in 1918 
and remained in use until the end of 
'I92i. There remains only one soli­
tary Village mark yet to be discover~d 
postally used, and that is Sannat -
Gozo. There is an .impression of this 
cancellor in a local· collection, bpt 
unfortunately it is clearly of phila­
telic vintage. It is applied on a .1d 
King George V stamp and dated 
1920, long after all the other Gozo 
datestamps, excepting Cacda as ai­
ready stated, were withdrawn. 

Continued on page IJ 
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c. 1500 B.C. 6d Def. issue of 9 Feb. 1956. Sources: 
2, 370, 323-
Les Garroches (The Three Urchins) - statue by 
ANTONIO SCIORTINO, location not confirmed. 
1j6 De£. issue of 23 Jan. 1956. Source: 2. 
Monument of Christ the King - by sculptor AN­
TONIO SCIOR TINO, erected 1928 to honour the 
1913 International Eucharistic Cong·ress, location 
unconfirmed. 2/- Def. issue of 23 Jan. 1956. Sources: 
2, 524-
Nicolas Cotoner - c. 1610-80, Grand Master of the 
Order of the Knights of Malta (1663-80), showing 
crypt decoration by MELCHIORE GAFA' (1635-67) 
in Go-Cathedral of St. John, Valletta. 2 j6 De£. issue 
of 22 March 1956. Sources: 1, 2 (Hoffman). See 
Malta and Gozo, 124. 

Continued from page I2 

PHILATELIC ASPECT 
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The standard double-ring cancellor inscribed in the upper part of the ring 
"FIELD POST OFFICE" with F.P.O. NO. "1001" in the lower part was the 
last British Forces Post Office handstamp used on the 27th March, 1979 day of 
the closure of the Office, applied on all out-going mail. Both registered and 
normal covers, posted almost entirely by philatelists on that date bear this 
cancellor with an asterisk above the date "27 MR/79"· 

The registration labd, in standard size and colour (blue) had the letters 
"FPO DS" printed in the right-hand upper section and the "No" underneath. 
A manuscript "1001" was added in black next to "FPO DS". 

Has anybody seen the handstamp dated "27 MR 79" with code letters? 

Continued from page IO 

(i) Enrico Gauci's salary comprised an 
allowance for the conveyance of the 
mails from the G.P.O. to Birchica1·a, 
Naxaro, St. Paul's Bay and Melleha 
and vice-versa. 

(ii) Carmelo Borg's salary was ior the con­
veyance of the mails to Hamrun, 
Curmi, Luca and Zurrico and vice­
versa. 

Reference~ Malta Government Gazette 
"11 Portafoglio Maltese" 
"The Maita Times" 
Various Annual Estimates 
"11 Mediterraneo" 
Borszelin, p. 3~0, Vol. I. 


